Development Control Committee



Minutes of a meeting of the Development Control Committee held on Thursday 2 November 2017 at 2.00 pm at the Conference Chamber, West Suffolk House, Western Way, Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU

Present: Councillors

Chairman Jim Thorndyke Vice Chairman Carol Bull and David Roach

John Burns Terry Clements Jason Crooks Robert Everitt Paula Fox Susan Glossop Ian Houlder David Nettleton Alaric Pugh Andrew Smith Julia Wakelam

By Invitation: Clive Pollington

Ward Member for Wickhambrook

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Peter Stevens and Ivor McLatchy.

2. Substitutes

No substitutes were declared at the meeting.

3. Minutes

The Chairman drew attention to the three sets of minutes attached to the agenda for Members' consideration:

7 September 2017

The Lawyer clarified that the minutes had come back to the Committee for consideration because they had been amended to list a condition that had been omitted from the minutes of the same meeting that had been approved on 5 October 2017.

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2017 were then confirmed as a correct record and were signed by the Chairman.

21 September 2017

Councillor David Nettleton referred to the last sentence in paragraph (e) on page 13 of the minutes and requested that in order to accurately reflect the comment he made in the meeting, it be amended to read '..therefore, ensuring that the decision was made locally rather than being determined by the **Planning Inspectorate'**.

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2017 were then confirmed as a correct record and were signed by the Chairman.

5 October 2017

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 October 2017 were confirmed as a correct record and were signed by the Chairman.

4. Planning Application DC/17/1628/OUT - Land Adjacent to Aldersfield Place Farm, Ashfield Green, Wickhambrook

Outline Planning Application (Means of Access to be considered) – 1no. dwelling and detached garage.

(Councillor Robert Everitt declared a non-pecuniary interest as he was known to the applicant but remained in the meeting for the consideration of this item).

This application had been referred to the Development Control Committee following consideration of the Delegation Panel at the request of the local Ward Member and because the Officer recommendation for refusal was contrary to that of the Parish Council's for approval.

Outline planning permission was sought for the erection of a single dwelling with a detached garage. The means of access was to be considered and it was proposed that it would be created by cutting through the existing hedgerow. All other matters were reserved, and any other information that was submitted would be indicative only and would not be capable of being taken into account at that stage, except to indicate how it would be possible to develop the site.

The Case Officer spoke on the history of the site and related planning applications.

A Member site visit was held prior to the meeting.

Speakers: Councillor Clive Pollington spoke as Ward Member for Wickhambrook in support of the application Mrs Parker (applicant) spoke in support of the application

Members queried the current use for the land and potential conditions that could be imposed to prevent the applicant from potentially over-developing the site if planning permission was granted. The Case Officer responded and clarified that the land was currently classified in planning terms as countryside outside the Housing Settlement Boundary and the current use was that of a garden/ paddock.

Councillor Alaric Pugh was of the opinion that whilst consideration should be given to similar applications that had been dismissed on appeal, this application was to be judged on its own merit and that it was in keeping with the spirit of policy DM27, which related to building housing in the countryside. He recognised that Wickhambrook had a specific set of characteristics comprising several hamlets and therefore was not setting a precedent for future decision making on similar applications of this kind. The site was located in a sustainable location and would be infilling a small undeveloped plot by one dwelling that would be of a similar scale and character to that of existing dwellings and therefore he would be minded to approve the application. The Service Manager (Planning Development) responded to Councillor Pugh's comments and explained that taking the characteristics of the settlements that comprised Wickhambrook into account, the benefits of the proposal could be adequate enough to outweigh the conflict with the Development Plan. She explained that policy DM27 was a relatively new policy that was open to interpretation and considered that the spirit of this policy could be applied in this case, and the addition of one dwelling in a sustainable location to the Borough's housing stock and five year land supply could justify approval of the application in this specific case.

The majority of Members supported these comments and also acknowledged the Ward Member's and Parish Council's support for the application.

During further discussion Members raised concerns relating to the current drainage system which was considered not to be fit for purpose; whether, if approved, a condition should be imposed regarding ensuring the dwelling be restricted to being single storey only as per the application submitted; as well as the potential for further development on this site or in the locality. The Case Officer confirmed that conditions could be listed that would require the current drainage system to be reviewed and that the development should be for a single storey dwelling only. The Service Manager explained that it could not be agreed in principle to refuse any further developments in the area and reiterated that if any such applications were to come to the Committee they would have to be considered on their own merit and not in comparison to any decisions made on previous applications.

The Case Officer read out draft conditions which could be used if Members were minded to approve the application:

- 1. Submission of reserved matters with means of access to be considered
- 2. Standard time limit
- 3. Standard highways
- 4. Scheme of drainage
- 5. Hours of construction
- 6. Single storey build
- 7. Details of landscaping and retention of existing boundaries

Councillor David Nettleton proposed that the application be approved, and this was duly seconded by Councillor Alaric Pugh.

Upon being put to the vote and with 13 voting for the motion and 1 against, it was resolved that

Decision

Planning permission be **GRANTED**, contrary to the Officer recommendation, for the following reasons:

- Taking the characteristics of the settlements that comprised Wickhambrook into account and the benefits of the proposal are adequate enough to outweigh any potential harm caused by a departure from the Development Plan in this particular case.
- The application accorded with the spirit of policy DM27.
- The addition of one dwelling in this sustainable location to the Borough's housing stock and five year land supply.

And subject to the following conditions:

- 1. Submission of reserved matters with means of access to be considered
- 2. Standard time limit
- 3. Standard highways
- 4. Scheme of drainage
- 5. Hours of construction
- 6. Single storey build
- 7. Details of landscaping and retention of existing boundaries

(Councillor Pollington left the meeting at the conclusion of this item.)

5. Planning Application DC/17/1588/HH - 59 Millfield Road, Barningham

Householder Planning Application – conversion of bungalow to two storey dwelling including single storey rear extension and part two storey / part single storey front extension.

This application was referred to the Development Control Committee following consideration of the Delegation Panel at the request of the local Ward Member and because the Parish Council objected to the application which was contrary to the Officer recommendation of approval.

Planning permission was sought for the conversion of a bungalow to a two storey dwelling which included a single storey rear extension and a part two storey / part single storey front extension. The proposal would create three first floor bedrooms, a bathroom and a study / bedroom four. The rear section of the existing integral garage would be converted into living accommodation with a new attached garage created in the front extension. The application which, as originally submitted, proposed a larger first floor extension with both a two storey rear extension and a two storey front extension however this had been amended to set the first floor back in line with the existing rear wall which would therefore reduce the first floor bulk. This would have enabled the ridge height to be lowered from 7.595 metres to 6.990 metres. The applicant had also amended the original plan to set back the first floor over the garage which would improve the aesthetics of the front elevation and reduce the first floor bulk.

A Member site visit was held prior to the meeting. Representations had been received from neighbouring properties within the cul-de-sac citing objections as listed in paragraph 9 of the report.

Speakers: Councillor Carol Bull spoke on the application as Ward Member for Barningham.

During discussion some Members stated that they would be apprehensive to approve an application that would reduce the number of bungalows in the Borough as there was already a shortage of that type of housing, however they did acknowledge that this was not a material planning consideration and therefore was not a reason to refuse the application.

Members commended the applicant for working cooperatively with the Planning department, particularly in relation to making improvements to the basic design. In addition, Members considered the concerns of the neighbouring residents and concluded that any potential overshadowing was insignificant; the amended design had mitigated against the development from potentially being overbearing; and the character of the area and street scene was felt to be enhanced as a result of the conversion.

Councillor David Nettleton proposed that the application be approved as per the Officer recommendation and this was duly seconded by Councillor Ian Houlder.

Upon being put to the vote with 9 voting for the motion and 3 against, it was resolved that

Decision

Planning permission be **APPROVED** subject to the following conditions:

- 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than 3 years from the date of permission
- 2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance with the details shown on the following approved plans and documents:

Reference No:	Plan Type	Date Received
2017-12-BD32	Location and Block Plan	08.09.2017
2017-12-BD31	Ex and Prop Elevations	08.09.2017
	and Floor Plans	

- 3. Occupation of the extension hereby permitted shall not commence until the area(s) within the site shown on drawing no. 2017-12-BD32 for the purposes of loading, unloading, manoeuvring and parking of vehicles has been provided. Thereafter the area(s) shall be retained and used for no other purpose.
- 4. Demolition or construction works shall not take place outside 07:30 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and 07:30 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

6. **Planning Application DC/17/1867/HH - Anvil Cottage, Maltings Lane, Ingham**

Householder Planning Application – Single storey rear extension and two storey side extension.

The application was referred to the Development Control Committee in accordance with the authorities' constitution as the applicant was an employee.

Planning permission was sought for a single storey rear extension and two storey side extension. The single storey rear extension would have a footprint of 3.9 metres x 3.6 metres with a height to the eaves of 2.5 metres and 4.2 metres to the highest point comprised of a roof lantern. The two storey side extension would have a footprint of 7.6 metres x 2.3 metres with a height to the eaves of 4.9 metres and 8 metres to the ridgeline of the pitched roof.

Representations had been received from two neighbouring properties citing objections as detailed in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the report.

Speakers: Councillor Susan Glossop spoke on the application as Ward Member for Risby.

Members' queried why a condition had been listed that required the applicant to install obscure glazed and fixed shut windows on the proposed first storey of the two storey rear elevation when the proposal was not considered to encroach upon neighbouring properties to the rear. The Planning Officer explained that the applicant had originally submitted plans for a blank gable end and the obscure glazed fixed shut windows had been added for architectural design purposes only. The Service Manager (Planning Development) clarified that the distance between the rear of the proposed extension and shared boundary line of the site and neighbouring properties would be considered acceptable in relation to causing no harm to the amenity of residents and therefore obscure glazed and fixed shut windows would not normally be required.

Councillor John Burns proposed that the application be approved, as per the Officer recommendation, which was duly seconded by Councillor Alaric Pugh. Councillor David Nettleton then moved an amendment to remove proposed condition 4 of the recommendation, which required the applicant to install obscure glazed and fixed shut windows as this was not considered necessary.

This was duly seconded by Councillor Alaric Pugh. Councillor John Burns, as the proposer of the original substantive motion accepted this amendment.

Upon being put to the vote and with 13 voting for the motion, none against and 1 abstention, it was resolved that

Decision

Planning permission be **APPROVED** subject to the following conditions summarised below:

- 1. 01A Time Limit Detailed
- 2. 14FP Approved Plans
- 3. NS Materials Detailed on Application Form

7. Planning Application DC/17/1576/HH - Walnut Brook, Withersfield Road, Haverhill

Householder Planning Application – Detached outbuilding on concrete base.

(Councillor Terry Clements declared a pecuniary interest in this application as he was a close acquaintance of the applicant. He left the meeting for the duration of the item and did not return).

This application was referred to the Development Control Committee as the applicant was an Elected Member of the Borough Council.

The application sought planning permission for the construction of a detached outbuilding on a concrete base. The proposed outbuilding would be of a wooden log style construction with a tiled asphalt roof and would measure 6 metres wide, 6 metres deep, 1.96 metres to the eaves and 2.7 metres to the ridge.

Councillor John Burns proposed that the application be approved, as per the Officer recommendation, and this was duly seconded by Councillor David Roach.

Upon being put to the vote and with the vote being unanimous, it was resolved that

Decision

Planning permission be **APPROVED** subject to the following conditions:

- 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun no later than three years from the date of permission.
- The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance with the details shown on the approved plans and documents.

The Meeting concluded at 3.31 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{pm}}$

Signed by:

Chairman